

Oded Stark and C. Simon Fan

^{Number} A Theory of Migration as a136 Response to Occupational Stigma

ZEF – Discussion Papers on Development Policy Bonn, November 2009 The CENTER FOR DEVELOPMENT RESEARCH (ZEF) was established in 1995 as an international, interdisciplinary research institute at the University of Bonn. Research and teaching at ZEF aims to contribute to resolving political, economic and ecological development problems. ZEF closely cooperates with national and international partners in research and development organizations. For information, see: http://www.zef.de.

ZEF – DISCUSSION PAPERS ON DEVELOPMENT POLICY are intended to stimulate discussion among researchers, practitioners and policy makers on current and emerging development issues. Each paper has been exposed to an internal discussion within the Center for Development Research (ZEF) and an external review. The papers mostly reflect work in progress.

Oded Stark and C. Simon Fan. A Theory of Migration as a Response to Occupational Stigma, ZEF- Discussion Papers On Development Policy No. 136, Center for Development Research, Bonn, November 2009, pp. 30.

ISSN: 1436-9931

Published by: Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF) Center for Development Research Walter-Flex-Strasse 3 D – 53113 Bonn Germany Phone: +49-228-73-1861 Fax: +49-228-73-1869 E-Mail: zef@uni-bonn.de http://www.zef.de

The authors:

Oded Stark, Universities of Bonn, Klagenfurt, and Vienna; Warsaw University; Warsaw School of Economics. Contact: ostark@uni-bonn.de **C. Simon Fan**, Lingnan University. Contact: fansimon@ln.edu.hk

Contents

Acknow	wledgements	
Abstract		1
Kurzfassung		2
1	Introduction	3
2	General equilibrium in a closed economy	8
3	General equilibrium in an open economy	13
4	The consequences of migration	19
5	Migration and occupational honor	25
6	Summary and conclusion	27
References		31
Appendix: Proofs		34

Acknowledgements

We are indebted to Charles Yuji Horioka for his guidance and encouragement; to two anonymous referees for challenging reflections, valuable advice, and numerous constructive suggestions; and to Yong Wang for helpful comments.

Abstract

Drawing on the literature of occupational status and social distance, a theory is developed of labor migration that is prompted by a desire to avoid "social humiliation." A closed-economy general equilibrium model that incorporates occupational status and examines the interaction between the goods market and the labor market is constructed. This framework is then extended from a closed, single economy to an open economy setting in a world that consists of two countries or two regions. It is shown that as long as migration can reduce humiliation sufficiently, migration will occur even between two identical economies. Hence, a new model of migration is presented in which migration arises from a wish to reap social exposure gains. The model shows that migration increases the number of individuals who choose to perform degrading jobs and that consequently, migration lowers the price of the good produced in the sector that is associated with low social status. Moreover, the more migration reduces the "humiliation" of performing degrading jobs, the larger the number of individuals who end up choosing such jobs, and the lower the wage in that sector. Finally, a welfare analysis is conducted, comparing the level of wellbeing in an open economy with the level of wellbeing in a closed economy. It is shown that the greater an individual's aversion to performing degrading jobs, the more likely it is that he will experience a welfare gain when the economy opens up.

Kurzfassung

Aufbauend auf die Literatur zu den Themen Status des Berufs und Soziale Distanz entwickelt die vorliegende Studie eine Theorie zur Migration von Arbeitskraft, die den Wunsch des Einzelnen mit einbezieht, eine Abwertung des sozialen Status zu vermeiden. Zunächst wird ein allgemeines Gleichgewichtsmodell einer geschlossenen Wirtschaft konstruiert, das den gesellschaftlichen Status der beruflichen Tätigkeit berücksichtigt, und die Interaktion zwischen Güter- und Arbeitsmarkt untersucht. Diese Betrachtungsweise wird dann von einem einzelnen geschlossenen Wirtschaftsraum auf ein wirtschaftliches Gefüge erweitert, das aus zwei offenen Volkswirtschaften bzw. Regionen besteht. Es wird gezeigt, dass es sogar zwischen zwei identischen Volkswirtschaften zu Migration kommt, solange diese einen niedrigen gesellschaftlichen Status hinreichend verbessern kann. Somit wird Migration in dem hier präsentierten Modell durch den Wunsch bedingt, einen gesellschaftlich höheren Status zu erlangen. Das Modell offenbart, dass Migration die Anzahl jener Individuen erhöht, die bereit sind, Arbeit, die als minderwertig empfunden wird, zu verrichten, und dass in Folge dessen der Preis des Gutes, das in dem entsprechenden Sektor produziert wird, durch Migration fällt. Je größer das Ausmaß ist, in dem Migration die Abwertung des sozialen Status reduziert, die mit dem Ausüben einer als minderwertig empfundenen Tätigkeit verbunden ist, umso größer ist die Anzahl der Individuen, die eine solche Tätigkeit verrichten, und umso niedriger ist der Lohnsatz im entsprechenden Wirtschaftssektor. Letztendlich wird eine Wohlfahrtsanalyse durchgeführt, die das Niveau des Wohlergehens in einer offenen Volkswirtschaft mit dem in einer geschlossenen Volkswirtschaft vergleicht. Es wird deutlich, dass eine Erhöhung der Wohlfahrt eines Individuums durch eine Öffnung des Wirtschaftsraumes umso wahrscheinlicher wird, desto größer dessen Abneigung gegen das Ausüben einer als minderwertig empfundenen Tätigkeit ist.

1 Introduction

Why people migrate is one of the most interesting questions in social science research. The tendency in this research has been to focus on the pecuniary angle: people choose to migrate because of an expected net income gain; it is the substitution of income in B for income in A that *explains* the migration from A to B. The fact that migration entails a change not only of earnings or labor markets but also of social groupings has received scant attention. This is somewhat surprising because it is well recognized that people care about their social standing and consequently are inclined to *act* in order to improve their social standing (even if as a consequence no income gains will come their way).¹ Migration can rationally be pursued in order to avoid association with, or exposure to, a social group. In what follows we study the case where migration is prompted by a desire to avoid "social humiliation."

Specifically, the current paper attempts to explore the role of "social distance" (Akerlof (1997)) in migration, by investigating the interaction between social distance and social status.^{2,3} In a general-equilibrium framework, we show that labor migration is prompted by a desire to avoid "social humiliation." It is often observed that "migrants do jobs that the natives do not want to do," and that they perform jobs that the host society's natives are ashamed to perform: cleaning toilets and engaging in prostitution come readily to mind. The following examples serve to illustrate the idea that underlies our inquiry.

 When in the 90's the shipbuilding industry in Nikolayev, Ukraine went through hard times, there was a sharp decline in the demand for shipbuilding engineers, less so for welders. Nikolayev shipbuilding engineers worked as welders elsewhere, but not in Nikolayev. For a shipbuilding engineer welding is a thoroughly low status occupation.⁴

¹ For example, see the collection of articles in Agarwal and Vercelli (2005).

² Inter alia, Akerlof (1997, p. 1010) states: "I shall let individuals occupy different locations in social space. Social interaction ... will increase with proximity in this space. Current social location is acquired and dependent on the [individual's] decision" Based on this social distance theory, Akerlof (1997, 2007) examines various aspects of the social and psychological repercussions of individual behaviors.

³ Notable contributions to the economics literature of social status include Cole, Mailath and Postlewaite (1992), Weiss and Fershtman (1998) who provide a survey of this literature, and Becker, Murphy and Werning (2005).

⁴ Personal communication from Professor Olena Nizalova.

"The Double Life of Alfred Bloggs," is taken from an influential English textbook • (Alexander 1967, p. 18) where we read as follows: "These days, people who do manual work often receive far more money than clerks who work in offices. People who work in offices are frequently referred to as 'white collar workers' for the simple reason that they usually wear a collar and tie to go to work. Such is human nature, that a great many people are often willing to sacrifice higher pay for the privilege of becoming white collar workers. This can give rise to curious situations, as it did in the case of Alfred Bloggs who worked as a dustman for the Ellesmere Corporation. When he got married, Alf was too embarrassed to say anything to his wife about his job. He simply told her that he worked for the Corporation. Every morning, he left home dressed in fine black suit. He then changed into overalls and spent the next eight hours as a dustman. Before returning home at night, he took a shower and changed back into his suit. Alf did this for over two years and his fellow dustmen kept his secret. Alf's wife has never discovered that she married a dustman and she never will, for Alf has just found another job. He will soon be working in an office as a junior clerk. He will be earning only half as much as he used to, but he feels that his rise in status is well worth the loss of money. From now on, he will wear a suit all day and others will call him 'Mr Bloggs', not 'Alf'."

These examples suggest that people migrate in order to pull themselves out from a reference group - a social group - that matters to them, and immerse themselves in a group that for them is *not* a reference group. That is why a shipping engineer in Ukraine, where the pay for ship welders is the same in all shipyards, is willing to weld away from his home shipyard but not at his home shipyard, and that is why Alfred Bloggs hides the secret of his true occupation from his wife.

Occupations confer social prestige or social stigma, and occupational choices are governed (also) by the "social color" of jobs. Indeed, in much of the sociology and economics literature, it is intimated that occupations are associated with social status, and that social status often differs significantly across occupations.⁵ We contend that "social humiliation" is sensed when others about whom an individual cares consider what the individual does to be shameful.⁶ We posit that the individuals who perform degrading jobs will not want their engagement in the

⁵ For examples of related sociological literature, see Treiman (1977) and Nam and Powers (1983).

A Theory of Migration as a Response to Occupational Stigma

jobs to be known to those whose opinion matters to them - they do not want to be exposed; migration often confers such a guise.

In other words, in relation to the theory of social distance developed by Akerlof (1997), we contend that in the home country or in the home region, the social distance is relatively short, which implies that the disutility from occupational stigma is high; in the foreign country or in the foreign region, however, the social distance is relatively long, which implies that the disutility from occupational stigma is low. Migration can be driven by this consideration. Individuals *as migrants* will be observed to perform jobs that they will not perform at home where their social group is informed about what they do. The opinions and views of those in whose midst the migrants live do not matter to the migrants or matter to them little in comparison with the opinions and views of those at home.

The received literature has shown, both empirically and theoretically, how migration is prompted by a desire to reduce relative deprivation.⁷ The impetus for that body of work was recognition that discontent can arise not only from having a low wage, but also from having a wage that is lower than that of others. It considered a case in which, given the set of the individuals with whom comparisons are made, an unfavorable comparison could induce a departure for work elsewhere where wages are higher, without changing the set of individuals with whom comparisons are made. Building on the work of social psychologists, that body of work has argued that a comparison of the income of individual *i* with the incomes of others who are richer in *i*'s reference group results in *i*'s feeling of relative deprivation, and that the associated disutility impinges on migration behavior. This literature also provided evidence that distaste for relative deprivation matters; relative deprivation is a significant explanatory variable of migration behavior.

However, in all that work, occupational considerations and occupational choices played no role at all: there was nothing inherent or imbedded in an occupation that rendered it more or less appealing in different countries or regions. Yet occupational humiliation can play a distinct role in migration behavior, and this role differs, both theoretically and empirically, from the role

⁶ A limiting case is that in which the "others" who consider the individual's predicament as shameful is the individual himself. In this case, our analysis is closely in line with Akerlof and Kranton (2000), who inquire how "identity," that is, a person's sense of self, affects economic outcomes.

⁷ For example, see Stark and Taylor (1991), Stark and Wang (2007), and Stark et al. (2009).

of relative deprivation. For example, holding the income of the individual constant, the relative deprivation consideration will predict migration into a group of people whose incomes are lower than the incomes of the people at origin; the social humiliation consideration will allow migration into a group of people whose incomes are higher than the incomes of the people at origin. Put differently, in a model of migration in response to relative deprivation, a reduction of the income of others will weaken the incentive to migrate; in a model of migration in response to social humiliation such an income change will not impinge upon the incentive to migrate. In the relative deprivation tale, the opinions of others are orthogonal to the migration calculus. In the social humiliation tale these opinions are at the heart of the migration calculus. In the relative deprivation tale, the purpose of migration is to reap relative income gains; in the social humiliation tale the purpose of migration is to reap social exposure gains. In the relative deprivation tale, it is the individual knowing the incomes of others in comparison with his own income that drives migration; in the social humiliation tale, it is others knowing the individual's occupation that is the drive. In the relative deprivation tale information plays no role; in the social humiliation tale, concealing information motivates migration. The two approaches differ then conceptually, empirically, and consequently and, quite obviously, also in terms of the corresponding policy design: what works when relative deprivation is the motive for migration will not bear on migration behavior when avoidance of social humiliation is the reason, and vice versa.

The remainder of this paper is structured as follows. In Section 2, we set up the basic analytical framework by constructing a general equilibrium model that incorporates occupational status and we examine the interactions between the goods market and the labor market. We show that *holding other things the same*, a worker who performs a "humiliation" type job will receive a higher wage than a worker who performs a "normal" type job, which is consistent with the principle of "compensating wage differentials."⁸ In Section 3, we extend the general equilibrium framework of occupational status in a closed, single economy to an open economy in a world that consists of two countries or two regions. We demonstrate the existence and uniqueness of a general equilibrium in this extended setting. We show that as long as migration can sufficiently reduce humiliation, migration will occur *even* between two identical economies. Hence, we

⁸ A large literature tests for "compensating wage differentials." This body of work generally provides empirical support for the theory. Recent writings include Gertler, Shah, and Bertozzi (2005), Butler and Worrall (2008), Del Bono and Weber (2008), Diaz-Serrano, Hartog, and Nielsen (2008), and Edlund, Engelberg, and Parsons (2009). For surveys of the earlier theoretical and empirical literature on "compensating wage differentials" see Rosen (1986), and Bender (1998).

A Theory of Migration as a Response to Occupational Stigma

present a new model of migration in which migration is motivated by a desire to reap social exposure gains. Moreover, we show that the more migration reduces the "humiliation" of performing degrading jobs, the larger the number of individuals who end up choosing such jobs, and the lower the price of the good produced in the sector associated with low social status. We also show that the cost of migrating from one economy to the other has an ambiguous impact on the price of the good produced in the sector associated with a low social status.

In Section 4, we investigate the repercussions of migration in the extended framework developed in Section 3. We show that migration increases the number of individuals who choose to perform degrading jobs, and that consequently it reduces the prices of the outputs produced in the corresponding sector. Migration also reduces the "compensating wage differential" for degrading jobs. In addition, we conduct a welfare analysis, comparing the level of wellbeing when the economy is open to that when the economy is closed. We find that an individual who works in the "normal" sector when the economy is closed is better off when the economy is open; that an individual who works in the "degrading" sector when the economy is closed is work in the "degrading" sector in his home country; and that an individual who works in the "degrading" sector when the economy is closed may be better off when the economy is open if he migrates to work in the "degrading" sector when the "degrading" sector when the economy is closed may be better off when the economy is open if he migrates to work in the "degrading" sector when the economy is closed may be better off when the economy is open if he migrates to work in the "degrading" sector when the economy is closed may be better off when the economy is open if he migrates to work in the "degrading" sector of the foreign country.

In Section 5, we extend the model by addressing the case of migration as a response to occupational honor, which logically is the flip side of the case of migration driven by avoidance of humiliation. People can migrate in order to detach themselves from a reference group - a social group - that does *not* matter to them, and immerse themselves in a group that for them *is* a reference group.

2 General equilibrium in a closed economy

In this section we develop a general equilibrium model in a closed economy setting. The model builds on the idea that individuals derive utility not only from their material consumption but also from their social status, and it examines the interaction between the goods market and the labor market in the light of this idea. The analysis in this section provides the basic analytical framework and a comparison benchmark for the subsequent sections.

Consider an economy that consists of a large number of individuals. Let the population size be of measure one. Individuals in the economy produce and consume two goods (or services): x and y. We refer to the sector producing x as the "normal" sector, and to the sector producing y as the "humiliation" sector. For the sake of convenience and clarity of exposition, we will also refer to the sectors producing x and y as the "X" sector and the "Y" sector, respectively. An individual works in either the "X" sector or in the "Y" sector. Prior to making their occupational choices, all the individuals are assumed to be identical in all relevant respects. An individual's utility function is as follows:

$$u = \alpha \ln x + (1 - \alpha) \ln y - \kappa(j)\varepsilon$$
(2.1)

where $\alpha \in (0,1)$ is constant; *j* indicates the sector in which the individual works such that if the individual works in the "X" sector, j = X, and if the individual works in the "Y" sector, j = Y; $\kappa(j)$ is a function that depends on the individual's occupational choice such that $\kappa(X) = 0$ and $\kappa(Y) = 1$; and ε is a random variable over the domain $[0,\infty)$, with its distribution function and probability density function denoted, respectively, by " $F(\cdot)$ " and " $f(\cdot)$." We assume that the function " $F(\cdot)$ " is continuous and differentiable with respect to its variable, and that f(z) = F'(z) > 0 for all $z \in [0,\infty)$. The variable ε captures the extent of humiliation; the higher the value of ε , the greater the humiliation. Put differently, ε serves as an index that measures the degree of "humiliation aversion" of the individual. Intuitively, ε can be determined by the individual's personality and character, upbringing, family and cultural background, and so on.

A Theory of Migration as a Response to Occupational Stigma

We assume that labor is the only factor of production. Every individual is endowed with one unit of labor, which is supplied inelastically. The production functions in the sectors producing x and y are, respectively, $X = L_x$ and $Y = L_y$, where X and Y are the total quantities of the outputs in the "X" sector and in the "Y" sector, respectively, and L_x and L_y are the total labor inputs in the "X" sector and in the "Y" sector, respectively. We use the price of x as the numeraire, and we denote the price of y by p. Since the economy is perfectly competitive, the wage rates in the sectors producing x and y, which we denote by w_x and w_y , are, respectively,

$$w_x = 1 \text{ and } w_y = p \tag{2.2}$$

The budget constraint of an individual in this economy is then

$$x + py = w_i \ (i = x \text{ or } y) \tag{2.3}$$

Maximizing (2.1) subject to (2.3), we get that

$$x = \alpha w_i$$
 and $y = \frac{(1-\alpha)w_i}{p}$, $i = x$ or y (2.4)

Thus, if an individual works in the "X" sector, then upon inserting (2.4) into (2.1) and rearranging, we get that his utility is

$$u_x \equiv \alpha \ln x + (1 - \alpha) \ln y$$

= $\alpha \ln \alpha + (1 - \alpha) \ln(1 - \alpha) + \ln w_x - (1 - \alpha) \ln p$ (2.5)

If an individual works in the "Y" sector, then upon inserting (2.4) into (2.1) and rearranging, we get that his utility is

$$u_{y} \equiv \alpha \ln x + (1 - \alpha) \ln y - \varepsilon$$

= $\alpha \ln \alpha + (1 - \alpha) \ln(1 - \alpha) + \ln w_{y} - (1 - \alpha) \ln p - \varepsilon$ (2.6)

9

Clearly, an individual will choose to work in the "Y" sector if and only if $u_x < u_y$, namely if and only if

$$\alpha \ln \alpha + (1-\alpha) \ln(1-\alpha) + \ln w_x - (1-\alpha) \ln p < \alpha \ln \alpha + (1-\alpha) \ln(1-\alpha) + \ln w_y - (1-\alpha) \ln p - \varepsilon$$

$$(2.7)$$

that is, if and only if

$$\varepsilon < \ln w_y - \ln w_x \tag{2.8}$$

Thus, the proportion (and the number) of individuals who choose to work in the sector producing y is

$$P(\varepsilon < \ln w_y - \ln w_x) = F(\ln w_y - \ln w_x)$$
(2.9)

Therefore, the total quantity supplied of *y* is:

$$F(\ln w_{v} - \ln w_{x}) \tag{2.10}$$

Also, from (2.4) and (2.9), we know that the total quantity demanded of y is:

$$\frac{(1-\alpha)w_y}{p}F(\ln w_y - \ln w_x) + \frac{(1-\alpha)w_x}{p}[1 - F(\ln w_y - \ln w_x)]$$
(2.11)

Then, market equilibrium entails that the quantity supplied of y is equal to the quantity demanded of y, namely

$$F(\ln w_y - \ln w_x) = \frac{(1-\alpha)w_y}{p}F(\ln w_y - \ln w_x) + \frac{(1-\alpha)w_x}{p}[1 - F(\ln w_y - \ln w_x)]$$
(2.12)

that is

$$F(\ln w_{v} - \ln w_{r})[p - (1 - \alpha)(w_{v} - w_{r})] = (1 - \alpha)w_{r}$$
(2.13)

From (2.2), we can rewrite (2.13) as

$$F(\ln p)[p - (1 - \alpha)(p - 1)] = 1 - \alpha$$
(2.14)

Let the equilibrium level of p in a closed economy be denoted by p^c . Then, we have the following proposition.

Proposition 1: (a) p^c exists and is unique. (b) $p^c > 1$. (c) An individual will choose to work in the "Y" sector if and only if $\varepsilon < \ln p^c$.

Proof: See the Appendix.

Proposition 1 characterizes the equilibrium price in a general-equilibrium framework in which every individual obtains utility from consumption and from social status. Note that we consider the general equilibrium not only of the labor market, but also of the goods market. Recall that the wage rates in the "X" and "Y" sectors are, respectively, 1 and p^c . The second part of Proposition 1 implies that individuals in the "Y" sector are paid a higher wage in compensation for the loss of social status from working in the sector. This is in line with the concept of "compensating wage differential," which refers to a wage difference that is due to the non-pecuniary aspects of different occupations. The second part of Proposition 1 predicts that *holding other things constant*, a worker who performs a "humiliation" type job will receive a higher wage than a worker who performs a "normal" type job.

The principle of a "compensating wage differential" is one of the oldest insights in economics. In his classical book that established the foundations of modern economics, *The Wealth of Nations*, Adam Smith (1776, Chapter 10) states: "... the wages of labour vary with the ease or hardship, the cleanliness or dirtiness, the honourableness or dishonourableness of the employment."⁹ Adam Smith assigns a particularly important role of honor or humiliation to the principle of a "compensating wage differential." For example, Adam Smith (1776, Chapter 10) states: "Honour makes a great part of the reward of all honourable professions. In point of

⁹ This statement is also quoted by Ehrenberg and Smith (2009).

pecuniary gain, all things considered, they are generally under-compensated.... The most detestable of all employment, that of public executioner, is, in proportion to the quantity of work done, better paid than any common trade whatever." While the topic of the "compensating wage differential" has received considerable attention in the economics literature in general,¹⁰ somewhat surprisingly relatively little attention has been paid to the particular role of honor or humiliation in shaping wage differentials. Our analysis helps fill this gap.

The third part of Proposition 1 implies that the higher the price of good Y, the larger the proportion (and number) of individuals who will choose to work in the "Y" sector. Also, from (2.2) and (2.9) we know that the number of individuals working in the "Y" sector is $F(\ln p^c)$.

¹⁰ For example, see the literature survey in Ehrenberg and Smith (2009).

3 General equilibrium in an open economy

In this section, we extend the general equilibrium framework of occupational status in a closed, single economy to an open economy with two countries. To highlight the essential idea of our paper, we consider two identical economies.¹¹ We choose such a setting for two reasons (let alone the advantage of technical simplicity). First, the setting implies that there will be no trade between the two countries (assuming that production in each country is based on constant returns to scale technologies). Consequently, we are able to focus on international *migration* between the two countries. Second, the setting implies that there is no wage differential between the two countries. Thus, this specification helps highlight our key idea that migration can be caused by the consideration of aversion to "humiliation," rather than by a wage differential.

We extend the model of the preceding section by assuming that an individual has the additional option of working abroad (or, for that matter, in a "foreign" region or in a "foreign" city). If an individual works abroad, his utility function becomes

$$u_{f} = \alpha \ln x + (1 - \alpha) \ln y - \gamma \kappa(j) \varepsilon$$
(3.1)

where γ (<1) is a positive constant. The difference between (3.1) and (2.1) is the inclusion in (3.1) of the parameter γ . The assumption that γ <1 captures the idea that there is less humiliation upon working in the "Y" sector of the foreign country (utility is reduced by a lesser amount) than upon working in the "Y" sector of the home country. As explained in the introduction, γ <1 stems from the greater "social distance" between an individual and his living environment in the foreign country, and from the barriers to the transmission of information about the individual's occupational status from the foreign country to the home country, a country in which the social distance between the individual and the local inhabitants is naturally much shorter. Moreover, it is easy to verify that for an individual who works in the "Y" sector of the foreign country and

¹¹ The two economies can likewise be two regions or two cities in the same country.

whose utility function is given by (3.1), the optimal consumption bundle is characterized by (2.4), where in this case w_i indicates net income.

We assume that there is a fixed cost of migration, which we denote by c. Since there is a cost of migration and the economies are identical, migrants will never work in the "X" sector of the foreign country. In other words, if there is migration, the migrants must work in the "Y" sector of the foreign country. In this section we first conduct the analysis by assuming that migration exists. A condition that migration occurs will be derived subsequently (in Proposition 3).

Let w_f denote the wage in the foreign "Y" sector. Note that the equilibrium prices in the foreign country and in the home country must be the same since the countries are identical. Then, akin to the analysis in the preceding section, we can infer that the utility of working in the "Y" sector of the foreign country is

$$u_f \equiv \alpha \ln \alpha + (1 - \alpha) \ln(1 - \alpha) + \ln(w_f - c) - (1 - \alpha) \ln p - \gamma \varepsilon$$
(3.2)

Because both economies are competitive and identical, in equilibrium we have that

$$w_x = 1 \text{ and } w_f = w_v = p^o \tag{3.3}$$

where p^{o} denotes the equilibrium price when the economies are open, which will be derived later.

Then, we have the following lemma.

Lemma 1. In an open economy, if migration exists, then(a) An individual will work in the "X" sector of the home country if

$$\varepsilon > \frac{\ln(p^{\circ} - c)}{\gamma} \tag{3.4}$$

14

In this case, the individual's wage / income is 1.(b) An individual will work in the "Y" sector of the home country if

$$\varepsilon < \frac{\ln p^{\circ} - \ln(p^{\circ} - c)}{1 - \gamma}$$
(3.5)

In this case, the individual's wage / income is p^o. (c) *An individual will work in the "Y" sector of the foreign country if*

$$\frac{\ln p^{\circ} - \ln(p^{\circ} - c)}{1 - \gamma} < \varepsilon < \frac{\ln(p^{\circ} - c)}{\gamma}$$
(3.6)

In this case, the individual's wage is p^{o} , and his net income is $p^{o} - c$.

Proof: See the Appendix.

Because the two countries are identical, in equilibrium the number of foreigners working in the "Y" sector of the home country must be equal to the number of "domestic" individuals working in the "Y" sector of the foreign country. Thus (suppressing the superscript), the total labor force in the "Y" sector of the home country is simply $F[\frac{\ln(p-c)}{\gamma}]$. Among these workers, the proportion (and number) of the domestic individuals working in the "Y" sector in the home country is:

$$F[\frac{\ln p - \ln(p - c)}{1 - \gamma}] \tag{3.7}$$

Thus, the proportion (and number) of foreign individuals working in the "Y" sector in the home country is

$$F\left[\frac{\ln(p-c)}{\gamma}\right] - F\left[\frac{\ln p - \ln(p-c)}{1-\gamma}\right]$$
(3.8)

15

Also, the proportion (and number) of the individuals working in the "X" sector in the home country is $1 - F[\frac{\ln(p-c)}{\gamma}]$. Thus, from Lemma 1 and (2.4), we know that the total demand for "Y" in the home country is

$$\frac{(1-\alpha)(p-c)}{p} \{F[\frac{\ln(p-c)}{\gamma}] - F[\frac{\ln p - \ln(p-c)}{1-\gamma}]\} + \frac{(1-\alpha)p}{p}F[\frac{\ln p - \ln(p-c)}{1-\gamma}] + \frac{(1-\alpha)}{p}\{1 - F[\frac{\ln(p-c)}{\gamma}]\}$$
(3.9)

We know that the total quantity supplied of y in the home country is $F[\frac{\ln(p-c)}{\gamma}]$. Thus, market equilibrium entails

$$F[\frac{\ln(p-c)}{\gamma}] = \frac{(1-\alpha)(p-c)}{p} \{F[\frac{\ln(p-c)}{\gamma}] - F[\frac{\ln p - \ln(p-c)}{1-\gamma}]\} + \frac{(1-\alpha)p}{p} F[\frac{\ln p - \ln(p-c)}{1-\gamma}] + \frac{(1-\alpha)p}{p} \{1 - F[\frac{\ln(p-c)}{\gamma}]\}$$
(3.10)

namely

$$(\alpha + \frac{c+1 - \alpha - \alpha c}{p})F[\frac{\ln(p-c)}{\gamma}] - \frac{c(1-\alpha)}{p}F[\frac{\ln p - \ln(p-c)}{1-\gamma}] - \frac{(1-\alpha)}{p} = 0 \quad (3.11)$$

Note that p° is the solution to (3.11). We then have the following proposition.

Proposition 2: (a) If migration exists, then p^o exists and is unique. (b) $p^o > 1+c$.

Proof: See the Appendix.

When p^{o} is determined, the wage rates for the "X" and "Y" sectors in both the home country and the foreign country will be solved. Thus, Proposition 1 characterizes the general equilibrium of a model of occupational status that allows for international migration. Recall that the wage rates in the "X" sector of the home country and in the "Y" sector of the foreign country

are, respectively, 1 and $p^{\circ}-c$. Part (b) of Proposition 2 demonstrates that the principle of "compensating wage differentials" continues to hold in the new environment of migration and open economy.

From Lemma 1, we have the following proposition.

Proposition 3: Migration will occur if and only if

$$\gamma < \frac{\ln(p^{\circ} - c)}{\ln p^{\circ}} \tag{3.12}$$

Proof: See the Appendix.

Upon inserting the solution to (3.11) into (3.12), if (3.12) holds, then migration will occur; if (3.12) fails to hold, then migration will not occur. Proposition 3 shows that as long as migration can reduce humiliation sufficiently, migration will occur even between two identical economies.

The analysis in this section provides a general equilibrium framework of occupational status and migration. In the received literature, it is ordinarily stated that people migrate for the sake of a higher wage at destination. We unearth a rationale that adds to the received literature, and we demonstrate that the rationale arises from an aversion to humiliation rather than from an aspiration for higher wages as such. Moreover, we show that migration is undertaken by rational individuals in a market equilibrium setting, although if occupational stigma were not considered, migration would appear to be a "waste".

Next, we have the following proposition.

Proposition 4: (a)
$$\frac{d(p^{\circ})}{d\gamma} > 0$$

(b) the sign of $\frac{d(p^{\circ})}{dc}$ is ambiguous.

Proof: See the Appendix.

The intuition of this proposition is as follows. First, as γ decreases, the occupational stigma associated with working in the "Y" sector of the foreign country will decrease. Consequently, the total labor supply in the "Y" sector will increase,¹² which leads to the price of the *y* good to drop in equilibrium. Second, as *c* decreases, the total labor supply in the "Y" sector will tend to increase. However, a decrease in *c* also increases the demand of the migrants. As both the supply and the demand increase, the net impact on the price of the *y* good is ambiguous.

This proposition has an interesting empirical implication. Information about a humiliating job performed away from home does not become available if migration is to a faraway destination, but becomes readily available if migration is to a destination nearby. In other words, social distance and geographical distance are often positively correlated, implying that γ may decrease with distance. Thus, Part (a) of Proposition 4 implies that the impact of faraway migration on p^o will be greater than the impact of short-distance migration and consequently and correspondingly, will be the impact of faraway migration on wage rates, and on the reallocation of employment between the "X" sector and the "Y" sector. Although a longer distance might be associated with a higher cost of migration, namely "c," Part (b) of Proposition 4 states that the impact of "c" on p^o is ambiguous. Thus, particularly when a longer distance does not increase "c" substantially, which is likely to be the case with the modern technologies of international transportation, a longer distance of migration will reduce p^o , a reduction which is associated with a larger supply of labor in the "Y" sector, and a lower relative wage in that sector.

¹² Proposition 6 in the next section provides a rigorous proof of the labor supply changes.

4 The consequences of migration

In this section, we investigate the repercussions of migration in the extended framework developed in Section 3. First, we have the following proposition.

Proposition 5: If migration exists (that is, if (3.12) is satisfied), then

$$p^{o} < p^{o}$$

Proof: See the Appendix.

Proposition 5 shows that migration entails a decrease in the price of the output of the "Y" sector. From the analysis in the preceding sections we know that the wage for work in the "humiliation" sector strictly increases in the price of the output of that sector. Thus, an interesting testable implication is that international migration reduces the "compensating wage differential" for the "humiliation" sector. The intuition for this implication is as follows. When a place is hardly accessible to migrants, the "humiliation" sector work is performed by the locals. To induce the locals to perform humiliating work, it would be necessary to pamper them with a relatively high wage. When a place is accessible to migrants, humiliating work can be performed by migrants. Since they are detached from the reference group that matters to them, they are willing to perform the humiliating work with less of a cushioning of a compensating wage. In this case, the "compensating wage differential" will be low. Therefore, the model predicts that the more isolated (open) a place, the higher (smaller) the "compensating wage differential" for the "humiliation" sector jobs.

We also have the following proposition.

Proposition 6: *If migration exists, then there will be fewer individuals working in the "X" sector in the open economy than in the closed economy.*

Proof: See the Appendix.

Proposition 6 shows that the opening up of the economy leads to a reduction in the number of individuals working in the "X" sector, and to an increase in the number of individuals working in the "Y" sector.¹³ The rationale is quite straightforward. In the "X" sector, the demand decreases in the open economy because a decrease of the relative price of the y good (Proposition 5) reduces the income of those who work in the "Y" sector (in terms of the numeraire x), and because the cost of migration reduces the income of the migrants who constitute a fraction of those who work in the "Y" sector. This implies that the supply of the x good and hence the labor force in the "X" sector will decrease in equilibrium.¹⁴ In contrast, in the "Y" sector, the decrease of the relative price of the y good increases the demand for it, which implies that the supply of the y good and hence the labor force in the "Y" sector will increase in equilibrium.

Moreover, from Proposition 6, we have the following proposition.

Proposition 7:

$$F[\frac{\ln(p^{\circ}-c)}{\gamma}] > F[\ln(p^{\circ})]$$

Proof: See the Appendix

Our analysis suggests that while the "normal" jobs are performed by natives, the degrading jobs are often performed by both migrants and natives. Moreover, from Lemma 1 and Proposition 7 we can see that the possibility of migration increases the number of individuals working in the "Y" sector of each country by the amount

$$F[\frac{\ln(p^{\circ}-c)}{\gamma}] - F[\ln(p^{\circ})]$$
(4.1)

¹³ For simplicity, we have not allowed for a revision of social attitudes as a function of the number of individuals who are working in the "Y" sector. Akin to Akerlof (1980), a case could be made that the larger the number of individuals working in a "degrading" sector, the less the associated social humiliation. It could then follow that working in the "Y" sector will be even more attractive, drawing in additional workers.

¹⁴ Note that the cost of migration - the fixed cost of being away from the home country - does not affect an individual's output since this cost is assumed to be a pecuniary cost rather than a time cost of labor supply.

A Theory of Migration as a Response to Occupational Stigma

This is precisely the number of individuals who leave the "X" sector in their home country for the "Y" sector in the foreign country. From Proposition 1 and Lemma 1 we can further see that the number of individuals who leave the "Y" sector in their home country for the "Y" sector in the foreign country is

$$F[\ln(p^{c})] - F[\frac{\ln p^{o} - \ln(p^{o} - c)}{1 - \gamma}]$$
(4.2)

Finally, we conduct a welfare analysis, comparing the level of wellbeing in an open economy with the level of wellbeing in a closed economy. To this end, we state the following lemma.

Lemma 2: An individual who works in the "X" sector in the closed economy will not work in the "Y" sector of the home country in the open economy.

Proof. See the Appendix.

Drawing on Lemma 2, the individuals of a country can be divided into four types:

- those who would work in the "X" sector in the closed economy and continue to work in the "X" sector in the open economy;
- (2) those who would work in the "X" sector in the closed economy but work in the "Y" sector of the foreign country in the open economy;
- (3) those who would work in the "Y" sector of the home country in the closed economy and continue to work in the "Y" sector of the home country in the open economy;
- (4) those who would work in the "Y" sector of the home country in the closed economy but work in the "Y" sector of the foreign country in the open economy.

We now have the following proposition.

Proposition 8: Comparing the level of wellbeing in an open economy with the level of wellbeing in a closed economy, we have that:

(a) Type (1) individuals will be better off.

(b) Type (2) individuals will be better off.

(c) *Type (3) individuals will be worse off.*

(d) A Type (4) individual will be better off if and only if his ε satisfies

$$\varepsilon > \frac{\alpha \ln p^{c} - \ln(p^{o} - c) + (1 - \alpha) \ln p^{o}}{1 - \gamma}$$

$$\tag{4.3}$$

Proof: See the Appendix.

This proposition states that international migration entails different welfare implications for different types of individuals.

For those who work in the "X" sector in the closed economy and continue to work in the "X" sector in the open economy (type (1) individuals), their (nominal) income is unchanged but the price of good y decreases. These individuals do not incur any disutility from humiliation. Thus, they are better off in the open economy.

For those who work in the "Y" sector of the home country in the closed economy setting but work in the "Y" sector of the foreign country in the open economy setting (type (4) individuals), international migration reduces their disutility from occupational stigma by the amount of $(1-\gamma)\varepsilon$, which clearly increases with ε . Thus, when ε is sufficiently large that such an individual's gain from the reduction of humiliation outweighs the cost of migration and the reduction of the wage in the "Y" sector, namely when (4.3) is satisfied, the individual will be better off in an open economy with international migration.

For those individuals who change occupations from the "X" sector to the "Y" sector due to the opportunity of migration (type (2) individuals), welfare will increase too. The basic intuition for this result is as follows. From Proposition 1 it follows that ε is higher for the individuals who work in the "X" sector in a closed economy than for the individuals who work in the "Y" sector in the closed economy. This implies that international migration reduces humiliation more for the individuals who work in the "Y" sector in the closed economy. Therefore, by the same logic as that of the preceding paragraph, for individuals of this type the gain from experiencing lower

A Theory of Migration as a Response to Occupational Stigma

humiliation upon international migration outweighs the cost of migration, which in turn implies that international migration increases their welfare.

However, international migration will reduce the welfare of those who work in the "Y" sector of the home country in the closed economy setting and who continue to work in the "Y" sector of the home country in the open economy setting (type (3) individuals). This occurs because as analyzed in the general-equilibrium framework presented in the preceding sections, international migration increases the supply of the workforce in the "Y" sector, and decreases the demand for the output of the "Y" sector, which in turn decreases the real income of the individuals working in the "Y" sector. Meanwhile, since these individuals continue to work in the "Y" sector of the home country, they experience the same level of humiliation before and after the economy opens up. Thus, they end up being worse off in the open-economy setting.

Moreover, from Proposition 1, Lemma 1, and Proposition 7, the typology of individuals can be illustrated with the help of the following schematic depiction,



Moreover, from the schematic depiction and Proposition 8, we can see that an individual will be better off in the open economy setting if and only if his ε satisfies condition (4.3). Thus, Proposition 8 implies that the greater is ε for an individual, the more likely the individual will experience a welfare gain when the economy opens up. If an individual with a high value of ε continues to work in the "X" sector in the open-economy setting, his utility will increase due to the decrease in the price of "Y" good¹⁵; if an individual with a high value of ε switches to work in the "Y" sector of the foreign country, the preceding analysis also shows that he will be better off than in the closed-economy setting. In contrast, individuals with a sufficiently low value of ε

¹⁵ The humiliation-induced migration of other individuals confers a utility gain upon the non-migrating individuals who work in the "normal" sector.

will continue to work in the "Y" sector of the home country in the open-economy setting, and they will experience a welfare loss when the economy opens up. Individuals who switch from working in the "Y" sector of the home country to working in the "Y" sector of the foreign country will also experience a welfare loss in the open-economy setting if their ε is small such that (4.3) is not satisfied; if however their ε is relatively large such that (4.3) is satisfied, they will experience a welfare gain in the open-economy setting.

Proposition 8 suggests that migration does not result in a Pareto improvement nor in a Pareto deterioration and hence, it has ambiguous social welfare implications. This could further explain why often migration is a politically contentious issue. Nonetheless, if from a social welfare point of view the greatest concern is with the wellbeing of those who experience much humiliation, then migration could be seen as a purveyor of a social welfare gain.

Moreover, from the proof of Proposition 8 in the Appendix we can see that the parameter γ is a crucial determinant of the impact of migration on welfare. Recall that $(1-\gamma)\varepsilon$ measures the reduction of humiliation from migration. Thus, the smaller γ , the larger the reduction. As noted earlier, a greater distance of migration may reduce γ . Thus, distance will then be a benefit, not a hindrance, and it will correlate positively, not negatively, with migration. The standard claim in migration theory is that distance is a proxy for cost and hence that distance is detrimental to migration. The humiliation perspective predicts the opposite: distance is conducive to migration if the information available to others, whose opinion the individual values, is a declining function of the distance between the migration destination and the location of those "others." In the economics of migration and humiliation, distance yields a *valuable* decaying of information. Distance could confer a benefit that is larger than the cost of covering it.¹⁶

¹⁶ This is not the first time though that distance features positively in the calculus of migration. The literature on migration and risk refers to the diversification of family risks and to the lowering of overall familial risk as reasons

5 Migration and occupational honor

The theme of this paper is its title: migration as a response to occupational stigma. Migration of this type is usually by unskilled workers. But migration could also be undertaken in pursuit of occupational honor by skilled workers. In a number of developing countries such as, for example, India and China today, and Israel, Japan, and Korea in the 1960s and 1970s, many nationals who obtained their Ph.D. in the United States returned home. Whereas these individuals could have commanded good salaries in the United States, they nonetheless went back to receive considerably lower salaries at home.¹⁷ In the economics literature this phenomenon is referred to as "return migration."¹⁸

In the received literature, it is usually argued that while the nominal earnings in rich countries are high, the price levels in poorer countries are low. Thus, individuals may find it optimal to spend positive fractions of their lifetime work in the home country and in the foreign country, which means that they will elect to return-migrate from a rich country to a poor country.¹⁹

Drawing, with some modification, on the setup of the preceding sections, we shed light on this phenomenon of return migration from a new angle. Similar to the preceding sections, we assume that individuals derive utility from two sources: income, and occupational status. But unlike in the preceding sections, we now contend that an individual with a prestigious occupation, say a university professor, enjoys occupational honor. Moreover, the closer the "social distance" between that individual and the people in his living environment, the higher is his utility from occupational honor. The glory (like the shame) that an individual experiences is intimately related to the social group he belongs to, and to the psychological distance between himself and that group. In the United States, the social distance between, for example, a Ph.D. who comes from Korea and the community he lives in is usually long. Consequently, he derives

for migration by a family member. In that context, when income realizations covary less as the destination is farther away from the home economy, distance is conducive to migration. (Inter alia, see Rosenzweig and Stark (1989).) ¹⁷ See, for example, Zweig, Chung, and Han (2008) and the literature reviewed therein.

¹⁸ In the literature of other social sciences, this phenomenon is often referred to as "brain circulation." See, for example, Gaillard and Gaillard (1997), and Zweig, Chung and Han (2008).

¹⁹ For writings on return migration from rich destinations to not-so-rich origins see, for example, Stark, Helmenstein and Yegorov (1997), and Stark and Fan (2007).

little glory (utility) from being, say, a professor in the United States. In Korea, however, the social distance between himself and his community is short. People in his social group (family members, old classmates, and so on) bask in his glory. This is valuable to him; namely, he derives considerable utility from being a professor in his home country. Thus, individuals may choose to migrate in order to pull themselves out from a reference group that does *not* matter to them, and immerse themselves in a group that for them *is* a reference group.

Our analysis therefore implies that the migration of skilled workers can also be related to a concern for occupational status and social distance. Such a line of reasoning suggests a novel explanation for return migration from rich to poor countries.

6 Summary and conclusion

In the substantial literature on labor migration, the basic theoretical tenet is the wage differential: people migrate for the sake of a higher wage at destination. However, while it is often observed that the desire to reap pecuniary rewards is not the only incentive for migration, the non-pecuniary aspects of migration have not been researched extensively. The current paper attempts to help fill this gap by exploring, in a general-equilibrium framework, the idea that labor migration is prompted by a desire to avoid "social humiliation."

We first construct a general equilibrium model that incorporates occupational status by examining the interactions of the goods market and the labor market. We then extend the general equilibrium framework of occupational status in a closed, single economy to an open economy in a world that consists of two countries or two regions. We demonstrate the existence and uniqueness of a general equilibrium in this setting. We show that as long as migration can reduce humiliation sufficiently, migration will occur *even* between two identical economies.²⁰ Hence, we delineate a new model of migration in which migration is resorted to as a means of obtaining social exposure gains.

There are numerous observations that as migrants, individuals engage in work, often of a degrading nature, which on the occupational prestige ladder is inferior to the work that they would have engaged in if at home. The rationale that is provided for this behavior in the received literature is often the prevalence of a wage differential. What we have sought to do in this paper is to unearth a novel rationale which adds to the received literature, demonstrate that the rationale arises from an aversion to humiliation rather than from aspiration for higher wages as such, show that the rationale yields testable implications, and point out that these implications can differentiate empirically between the wage rationale approach and our new approach. In reality, we believe that migration is undertaken for a combination of reasons, and that while a wage differential is one such reason, it is not the only one.

Our model shows that migration increases the number of individuals who choose to perform degrading jobs, and consequently lowers the price of the good produced in the sector that is associated with low social status. We show that the more migration reduces the humiliation of performing degrading jobs, the more individuals will choose such jobs, and the lower will be the price of the good produced in the corresponding sector. A related and interesting testable implication is that international migration reduces the "compensating wage differential" for degrading jobs. We conduct a welfare analysis, comparing the level of wellbeing in an open economy with the level of wellbeing in a closed economy. We find that the greater the psychological cost to an individual of performing degrading jobs, the more likely it is that the individual will experience a welfare gain when the economy opens up. Finally, we extend the model by referring to the case of migration as a response to occupational honor. This extension helps explain the migration of skilled workers from rich to poor countries.

The model has a number of interesting policy implications. For example, it suggests that the employment of migrants in degrading activities may not be due to discrimination by the host society but rather to individuals' choosing destinations far from home as arenas for their activities. A presumption by members of the host society that "we would be humiliated to perform jobs that the migrants do" is not synonymous with migrants feeling that they perform humiliating jobs. Conversely, if an individual believes that others think that he is engaged in a degrading activity, the individual will sense humiliation even if, by himself, he does not conceive of his job to be degrading, provided that the individual cares about the opinions of those others. Thus, efforts to give migrants jobs that their hosts consider to be less humiliating in order to increase the migrants' sense of wellbeing will be misguided if individuals migrate in order to avoid or lower humiliation at home. It is the humiliation at home that matters, less or not so at destination. Put differently, if individuals migrate to secure higher wages, then a higher wage at home or a lower wage at destination will have a symmetrical adverse impact on the incentive to migrate: in the case of humiliation described in this paper the reduced humiliation at home matters more, while a reduction in (exogenously conceived) humiliation at destination matters less, or not at all.

We have employed the simplest model in order to highlight the essential idea of the paper. In future research we will seek to extend the model in several directions. For example, we

²⁰ If we (narrowly) interpret the "Y" sector as the sector of prostitution, then our model extends the received

A Theory of Migration as a Response to Occupational Stigma

will want to consider migration as a response to occupational stigma in a poor country - rich country setting. In such a context, it could be shown that migration is caused by both a wage differential and a desire to avoid humiliation. Migration that takes place under the "guise" of a wage differential from a poorer country to a richer country could just as well be undertaken for the purpose of lowering humiliation, even though the prevalence of this motive is ordinarily masked, so to speak, by the observed wage differential. In addition, the model can be extended to explore the implications of labor heterogeneity. Based on a model similar to the one presented in the current paper with labor being interpreted as unskilled labor, we could introduce a dimension of skilled labor. In such an extension, we will have skilled labor producing another good, say good "Z". It is reasonable to assume that from the perspective of consumers' utility maximization, the goods produced by skilled labor and unskilled labor are complementary. In a closed economy without migration, the concern of humiliation results in too few unskilled individuals working in the "Y" sector. Consequently, the relative prices of both the "Z" good and the "X" good are low relative to the "Y" good. By a similar logic to that of the existing model, migration will "invite" more unskilled individuals to work in the "Y" sector, which in turn will increase the relative prices of both the "Z" good and the "X" good. Consequently, we could show that a skilled individual's real income and welfare will increase upon opening the economy to the migration of unskilled individuals. Moreover, based on Section 5, we may consider the repercussions of the migration of skilled individuals from rich to poor countries. In the contemporary world, most developed countries apply selection criteria such that skilled individuals from poor countries have higher chances of migrating to rich countries than unskilled individuals. When the concern for "honor" is not considered, the prediction would be that only a few skilled migrants will return to their home country. Then, due to the scarcity of skilled labor in the poor country, the relative price of the "Z" good will be high, which reduces the welfare of unskilled individuals. However, when we incorporate the effect of "honor" in an individual's utility and admit that this effect is stronger when the "social distance" between an individual and the local population decreases, we will predict that many migrants will return home even when the wage gap between the rich and the poor countries is still high. Due to the consequent increase in the supply of skilled labor in the poor country, the relative price of the "Z" good will be lower, which raises the welfare of the unskilled individuals.

literature on prostitution (Edlund and Korn, 2002) from a closed economy to an open economy.

An interesting venue of future research will be to pursue a rigorous empirical study based on the preceding theoretical analysis. For example, our model implies that international migration reduces the "compensating wage differential" for the "humiliation" sector. We may test this implication with both micro and macro level data and examine whether increased migration at the era of globalization shrinks the "compensating wage differential". As another and specific blueprint of an empirical study, take the case of migration that is prompted by a desire to avoid humiliation. Suppose that we identify migrants who perform humiliating jobs. We then ask them: "will you be willing to perform *at home* this very same job for the very same wage, *W*, that you are getting now?" The evidence will be in support of our theory if and only if the answer is "no." Suppose that the reply is "no." Then we will ask: "what would be the wage that if paid to you at home will render you willing to perform that very same job at home?" Suppose they answer "*H*," and that H > W. Then, H-W is the "humiliation premium," and as long as H-W > 0, our theory will be supported by evidence.

References

- Agarwal, Bina and Alessandro Vercelli, eds. (2005). *Psychology, Rationality and Economic Behavior*. Houndmills: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Akerlof, George A. (1980). "A Theory of Social Custom, of Which Unemployment May be One Consequence," *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 94(4): 749-775.
- Akerlof, George A. (1997). "Social Distance and Social Decisions," *Econometrica*, 65(5): 1005-1027.
- Akerlof, George A. (2007). "The Missing Motivation in Macroeconomics," *American Economic Review*, 97(1): 5-36.
- Akerlof, George A. and Rachel E. Kranton (2000). "Economics and Identity," *Quarterly Journal* of Economics, 115(3): 715-753.
- Alexander, Louis G. (1967). New Concept English. London: Longman.
- Becker, Gary S., Kevin M. Murphy, and Ivan Werning (2005). "The Equilibrium Distribution of Income and the Market for Status," *Journal of Political Economy*, 113(2): 282-310.
- Bender, Keith A. (1998). "The Central Government-Private Sector Wage Differential," *Journal* of Economic Surveys, 12(2): 177-220.
- Butler, Richard J. and John D. Worrall (2008). "Wage and Injury Response to Shifts in Workplace Liability," *Industrial and Labor Relations Review*, 61(2): 181-200.
- Cole, Harold L., George J. Mailath, and Andrew Postlewaite (1992). "Social Norms, Savings Behavior, and Growth," *Journal of Political Economy*, 100(6): 1092-1125.
- Del Bono, Emilia and Andrea Weber (2008). "Do Wages Compensate for Anticipated Working Time Restrictions? Evidence from Seasonal Employment in Austria," *Journal of Labor Economics*, 26(1): 181-221.
- Diaz-Serrano, Luis, Joop Hartog, and Helena Nielsen (2008). "Compensating Wage Differentials for Schooling Risk in Denmark," *Scandinavian Journal of Economics*, 110(4): 711-731.

- Edlund, Lena and Evelyn Korn (2002). "A Theory of Prostitution," *Journal of Political Economy*, 110(1): 181-214.
- Edlund, Lena, Joseph Engelberg, and Christopher A. Parsons (2009). "The Wages of Sin," Columbia University Discussion Paper No.: 0809-16.
- Ehrenberg, Ronald G. and Robert S. Smith (2009). *Modern Labor Economics: Theory and Public Policy*. Boston, MA: Pearson / Addison Wesley.
- Gertler, Paul, Manisha Shah, and Stefano M. Bertozzi (2005). "Risky Business: The Market for Unprotected Commercial Sex," *Journal of Political Economy*, 113(3): 518-550.
- Gaillard, Jacques and Anne Marie Gaillard (1997). "Introduction: The International Mobility of Brains: Exodus or Circulation?" *Science, Technology and Society*, 2(2): 195-228.
- Nam, Charles B. and Mary G. Powers (1983). The Socioeconomic Approach to Status Measurement: with a Guide to Occupational and Socioeconomic Status Scores. Houston, TX: Cap and Gown Press.
- Rosen, Sherwin (1986). "The Theory of Equalizing Differences," in Orley Ashenfelter and David Card, eds. *Handbook of Labor Economics*, vol. 1, New York: Elsevier Publishers, 641-692.
- Rosenzweig, Mark R. and Oded Stark (1989). "Consumption Smoothing, Migration and Marriage: Evidence from Rural India," *Journal of Political Economy*, 97(4): 905-926.
- Smith, Adam (1776). *An Inquiry into the Nature and Causes of the Wealth of Nations*, Reprint, Edited by E. Cannan, Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- Stark, Oded and C. Simon Fan (2007). "The Analytics of Seasonal Migration," *Economics Letters*, 94(2): 304-312.
- Stark, Oded, Christian Helmenstein, and Yury Yegorov (1997). "Migrants' Savings, Purchasing Power Parity, and the Optimal Duration of Migration," *International Tax and Public Finance*, 4(3): 307-324.
- Stark, Oded and J. Edward Taylor (1991). "Migration Incentives, Migration Types: The Role of Relative Deprivation," *The Economic Journal*, 101(408): 1163-1178.
- Stark, Oded, Maja Micevska, and Jerzy Mycielski (2009). "Relative Poverty as a Determinant of Migration: Evidence from Poland," *Economics Letters*, 103(3): 119-122.
A Theory of Migration as a Response to Occupational Stigma

- Stark, Oded and You Qiang Wang (2007). "Towards a Theory of Self-Segregation as a Response to Relative Deprivation: Steady-State Outcomes and Social Welfare," in Luigino Bruni and Pier Luigi Porta, eds. *Economics and Happiness: Framing the Analysis*. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 223-242.
- Treiman, Donald J. (1977). Occupational Prestige in Comparative Perspective. New York: Academic Press.
- Weiss, Yoram and Chaim Fershtman (1998). "Social Status and Economic Performance: A Survey," *European Economic Review*, 42(3-5): 801-820.
- Zweig, David, Siu-Fung Chung, and Donglin Han (2008). "Redefining the Brain Drain: China's Diaspora Option," *Science, Technology and Society*, 13(1): 1-33.

Appendix: Proofs

Proof of Proposition 1: (a) Note that p^c is the solution to (2.14). To prove its existence, we consider the cases in which p = 1 and $p = \infty$. When p = 1, we know that

$$F(\ln p)[p - (1 - \alpha)(p - 1)] = F(0) = 0 < 1 - \alpha$$
(A.1)

When $p = \infty$, we know that

$$\lim_{p \to \infty} F(\ln p)[p - (1 - \alpha)(p - 1)] = \lim_{p \to \infty} \alpha p > 1 - \alpha$$
(A.2)

Thus, there exists a $p^c \in (1, N)$, where N is a sufficiently large number, such that p^c is a solution to (2.14). Furthermore, there are no internal solutions to equation (2.14) in the interval (0,1), as in this case condition (2.8) for participation in the "Y" sector (noting (2.2)) would become

$$\varepsilon < \ln p < 0 \tag{A.3}$$

not allowing for any production of Y at all.

To prove the uniqueness of p^c , we note that for all p greater than 1

$$\frac{d\{F(\ln p)[p - (1 - \alpha)(p - 1)]\}}{dp}$$

$$= \frac{F'(\ln p)}{p}[p - (1 - \alpha)(p - 1)] + F(\ln p)\alpha$$

$$= \frac{F'(\ln p)}{p}[\alpha p + (1 - \alpha)] + F(\ln p)\alpha$$

$$> 0$$
(A.4)

This implies that the left-hand side of (2.14) increases with p. Meanwhile, the right-hand side of (2.14) is independent of p. Therefore, p^c is unique.

(b) $p^c > 1$ is already demonstrated in the preceding proof of part (a).

(c) From (2.2), (2.8), and part (a) of this proposition, the proof of this part is trivial.

Proof of Lemma 1: An individual will choose to work in the "Y" sector of the foreign country over working in the "X" sector of the home country if and only if

$$\alpha \ln \alpha + (1-\alpha) \ln(1-\alpha) + \ln(w_f - c) - (1-\alpha) \ln p - \gamma \varepsilon$$

> $\alpha \ln \alpha + (1-\alpha) \ln(1-\alpha) + \ln w_r - (1-\alpha) \ln p$ (A.5)

Noting (3.3), (A.5) is equivalent to

$$\varepsilon < \frac{\ln(w_f - c) - \ln w_x}{\gamma} = \frac{\ln(p^\circ - c)}{\gamma}$$
(A.6)

From (3.3), we know that if an individual works in the "X" sector of the home country, his wage / income will be 1.

An individual will choose to work in the "Y" sector of the foreign country rather than in the "Y" sector of the home country if and only if

$$\alpha \ln \alpha + (1-\alpha) \ln(1-\alpha) + \ln(w_f - c) - (1-\alpha) \ln p - \gamma \varepsilon$$

> $\alpha \ln \alpha + (1-\alpha) \ln(1-\alpha) + \ln w_v - (1-\alpha) \ln p - \varepsilon$ (A.7)

Noting (3.3), (A.7) is equivalent to

$$\varepsilon > \frac{\ln w_{y} - \ln(w_{f} - c)}{1 - \gamma} = \frac{\ln p^{o} - \ln(p^{o} - c)}{1 - \gamma}$$
(A.8)

Thus, when (A.8) is not satisfied, namely when (3.5) is satisfied, an individual will work in the "Y" sector of the home country. In this case, from (3.3) we know that the individual's wage / income will be p° .

ZEF Discussion Papers on Development Policy 136

From the preceding considerations we know that an individual will work in the "Y" sector of the foreign country if

$$\frac{\ln p^{\circ} - \ln(p^{\circ} - c)}{1 - \gamma} < \varepsilon < \frac{\ln(p^{\circ} - c)}{\gamma}$$
(A.9)

In this case, the individual's wage is p° , and since he incurs the cost of international migration, his net income is $p^{\circ} - c$.

Proof of Proposition 2: (1) Note that p^o is the solution to (3.11). To prove its existence, we consider the cases in which p = 1 + c and $p = \infty$.

When p = 1 + c, we know that the left-hand side of (3.11) is

$$(\alpha + \frac{c+1-\alpha - \alpha c}{p})F[\frac{\ln(1+c-c)}{\gamma}]$$

$$-\frac{c(1-\alpha)}{p}F[\frac{\ln(1+c) - \ln(1+c-c)}{1-\gamma}] - \frac{(1-\alpha)}{p}$$

$$= -\frac{c(1-\alpha)}{p}F[\frac{\ln(1+c)}{1-\gamma}] - \frac{(1-\alpha)}{p}$$

$$< 0$$
(A.10)

When $p = \infty$, we know the left-hand side of (3.11) is

$$\lim_{p \to \infty} \{ (\alpha + \frac{c+1-\alpha}{p}) F[\frac{\ln(p-c)}{\gamma}] - \frac{c(1-\alpha)}{p} F[\frac{\ln p - \ln(p-c)}{1-\gamma}] - \frac{(1-\alpha)}{p} \}$$
(A.11)
= $\alpha > 0$

Thus, there exists a $p^{\circ} \in (1+c, N)$, where *N* is a sufficiently large number, such that p° is a solution to (3.11). Furthermore, if migration exists, then any solution to equation (3.11) is greater than 1+c: in the case where p < 1+c, any individual would clearly prefer working in the "X" sector at home for a wage of $w_x=1$ to working in the "Y" sector for a net wage smaller than 1 and migration would not occur.

Next, to prove the uniqueness of the solution, we rewrite (3.11) as

$$(\alpha p + c + 1 - \alpha - \alpha c)F[\frac{\ln(p - c)}{\gamma}] - c(1 - \alpha)F[\frac{\ln p - \ln(p - c)}{1 - \gamma}] - (1 - \alpha) = 0$$
(A.12)

Note that the derivative of the left-hand side of (A.12) with respect to p, for all p > 1 + c, is

$$\begin{split} \Gamma &= \alpha F[\frac{\ln(p-c)}{\gamma}] + \frac{(\alpha p + c + 1 - \alpha - \alpha c)}{\gamma(p-c)} F'[\frac{\ln(p-c)}{\gamma}] \\ &- \frac{c(1-\alpha)}{1-\gamma} (\frac{1}{p} - \frac{1}{p-c}) F'[\frac{\ln p - \ln(p-c)}{1-\gamma}] \\ &= \alpha F[\frac{\ln(p-c)}{\gamma}] + \frac{(\alpha p + c + 1 - \alpha - \alpha c)}{\gamma(p-c)} F'[\frac{\ln(p-c)}{\gamma}] \\ &+ \frac{c^2(1-\alpha)}{(1-\gamma)p(p-c)} F'[\frac{\ln p - \ln(p-c)}{1-\gamma}] \\ &> 0 \end{split}$$
(A.13)

Thus, p^o must be unique.

Finally, the proof of part (b) of the proposition is already included in the preceding proof.

Proof of Proposition 3: From Part (c) of Lemma 1, we know that no individual will migrate if and only if

$$\frac{\ln p^{\circ} - \ln(p^{\circ} - c)}{1 - \gamma} > \frac{\ln(p^{\circ} - c)}{\gamma}$$
(A.14)

namely

$$\gamma > \frac{\ln(p^{\circ} - c)}{\ln p^{\circ}} \tag{A.15}$$

Thus, if and only if (3.12) is satisfied, migration will occur.

Proof of Proposition 4: (a) Totally differentiating (A.12) with respect to p and γ , noting (A.13), and rearranging, we get

37

ZEF Discussion Papers on Development Policy 136

$$\frac{dp}{d\gamma} = \frac{1}{\Gamma} \left\{ \frac{\ln(p-c)}{\gamma^2} (\alpha p + c + 1 - \alpha - \alpha c) F'[\frac{\ln(p-c)}{\gamma}] + \frac{\ln p - \ln(p-c)}{(1-\gamma)^2} c(1-\alpha) F'[\frac{\ln p - \ln(p-c)}{1-\gamma}] \right\}$$
(A.16)
> 0

(b) Totally differentiating (A.12) with respect to p and c, noting (A.13), and rearranging, we get

$$\frac{dp}{dc} = -\frac{1}{\Gamma} \{ F[\frac{\ln(p-c)}{\gamma}](1-\alpha) - \frac{1}{\gamma(p-c)} F'[\frac{\ln(p-c)}{\gamma}](\alpha p + c + 1 - \alpha - \alpha c) - (1-\alpha)F[\frac{\ln p - \ln(p-c)}{1-\gamma}] - \frac{c(1-\alpha)}{(1-\gamma)(p-c)} F'[\frac{\ln p - \ln(p-c)}{1-\gamma}] \}$$
(A.17)

Thus, the sign of $\frac{d(p^{\circ})}{dc}$ is ambiguous.

Proof of Proposition 5: Inserting $p = p^{\circ}$ into (A.12) and rearranging, we get

$$(\alpha + \frac{1-\alpha}{p^{\circ}})F[\frac{\ln(p^{\circ}-c)}{\gamma}] + \frac{c(1-\alpha)}{p^{\circ}}\{F[\frac{\ln(p^{\circ}-c)}{\gamma}] - F[\frac{\ln p^{\circ} - \ln(p^{\circ}-c)}{1-\gamma}]\} - \frac{(1-\alpha)}{p^{\circ}} = 0$$
(A.18)

Recall that when (3.12) is satisfied

$$F[\frac{\ln(p^{\circ}-c)}{\gamma}] > F[\frac{\ln p^{\circ} - \ln(p^{\circ}-c)}{1-\gamma}]$$
(A.19)

In combination, (A.18) and (A.19) imply

$$(\alpha + \frac{1-\alpha}{p^{\circ}})F[\frac{\ln(p^{\circ}-c)}{\gamma}] - \frac{(1-\alpha)}{p^{\circ}}$$
$$= -\frac{c(1-\alpha)}{p^{\circ}} \{F[\frac{\ln(p^{\circ}-c)}{\gamma}] - F[\frac{\ln p^{\circ} - \ln(p^{\circ}-c)}{1-\gamma}]\}$$
$$< 0$$
(A.20)

namely that

$$(1 - \alpha + \alpha p^{\circ})F[\frac{\ln(p^{\circ} - c)}{\gamma}] < 1 - \alpha$$
(A.21)

Meanwhile, note that

$$p - (1 - \alpha)(p - 1) = 1 - \alpha + \alpha p \tag{A.22}$$

Thus, from (A.21) and (2.14), noting that p^c satisfies (2.14), and upon inserting (A.22) into (2.14), we have that

$$(1 - \alpha + \alpha p^{\circ})F[\frac{\ln(p^{\circ} - c)}{\gamma}] < 1 - \alpha = (1 - \alpha + \alpha p^{\circ})F(\ln p^{\circ})$$
(A.23)

We now claim that $p^{o} < p^{c}$. We prove this by contradiction. Suppose not. Namely suppose that $p^{o} \ge p^{c}$. Then, first, we have that

$$(1 - \alpha + \alpha p^{\circ}) \ge (1 - \alpha + \alpha p^{\circ}) \tag{A.24}$$

Also, if (3.12) is satisfied and $p^{\circ} \ge p^{\circ}$, then

$$\ln(p^{o} - c) > \gamma \ln p^{o} \ge \gamma \ln p^{c} \tag{A.25}$$

From (A.24) and (A.25), we get

$$(1 - \alpha + \alpha p^{\circ})F[\frac{\ln(p^{\circ} - c)}{\gamma}] \ge (1 - \alpha + \alpha p^{\circ})F(\ln p^{\circ})$$
(A.26)

(A.26) contradicts (A.23), which completes the proof of the proposition. \blacksquare

Proof of Proposition 6: We prove this by contradiction. Suppose not. Namely, suppose that in equilibrium, the number of individuals working in the "X" sector in the open economy is greater than or equal to that in the closed economy. Recall (2.2) and (2.4), we know that for an individual working in the "X" sector, his net supply of x is²¹

$$1-\alpha$$
 (A.27)

If the number of individuals working in the "X" sector in the open economy is greater than or equal to that in the closed economy, then the total net supply of x in the open economy is greater than or equal to that in the closed economy.

The net demand of *x* comes from those who work in the "Y" sector.²² Recall that the demand of every individual working in the "Y" sector is a constant fraction (α) of his income. If migration exists, then a fraction of individuals working in the "Y" sector in the open economy incurs a cost of migration, which reduces their income. Moreover, the decrease of the price of "Y" in the open economy reduces the income of everyone who works in the "Y" sector. Thus, if the number of individuals working in the "Y" sector in the open economy is less than or equal to that in the closed economy, then the total net demand of *x* in the open economy is less than that in the closed economy.

Thus, since the total net supply of x increases, while the total net demand of x decreases, the market cannot reach an equilibrium in the open economy with the number of individuals working in the "X" sector being greater than or equal to that in the closed economy. This completes the proof of the proposition.

Proof of Proposition 7: From the analysis in Section 2, we know that the number of individuals working in the "X" sector in closed economy is

$$1 - F[\ln(p^c)] \tag{A.28}$$

²¹ An individual's net supply of a good is defined as the difference between the individual's output of the good and his demand for the good.

²² An individual's net demand for a good is defined as the difference between the individual's demand for the good and his output of the good. The output of x of individuals who work in the "Y" sector is zero. Thus, their net demand for x is equal to their demand for x.

From the analysis in Section 3, we know that the number of individuals working in the "X" sector in closed economy is

$$1 - F\left[\frac{\ln(p^{\circ} - c)}{\gamma}\right] \tag{A.29}$$

From Proposition 6, we know that

$$1 - F[\frac{\ln(p^{\circ} - c)}{\gamma}] < 1 - F[\ln(p^{\circ})]$$
(A.30)

which implies

$$F[\frac{\ln(p^{\circ}-c)}{\gamma}] > F[\ln(p^{\circ})]$$
(A.31)

Proof of Lemma 2: From (A.7), we know that an individual's utility gain (in the open economy) of switching from working in the "Y" sector of the home country to working in the "Y" sector of the foreign country is:

$$\{\alpha \ln \alpha + (1-\alpha) \ln(1-\alpha) + \ln(p^{\circ}-c) - (1-\alpha) \ln p^{\circ} - \gamma \varepsilon\} - \{\alpha \ln \alpha + (1-\alpha) \ln(1-\alpha) + \ln p^{\circ} - (1-\alpha) \ln p^{\circ} - \varepsilon\}$$
(A.32)
= $(1-\gamma)\varepsilon + \ln(p^{\circ}-c) - \ln p^{\circ}$

Thus, the higher ε , the larger the benefit of switching from working in the "Y" sector of the home country to working in the "Y" sector of the foreign country. As we have demonstrated, some individuals who work in the "Y" sector of the home country in the closed economy will work in the "Y" sector of the foreign country in the open economy. An individual who works in the "X" sector in the closed economy has a higher ε than any individual who works in the "Y" sector of the home country in the closed economy. Therefore, if any individual who would work in the "Y" sector of the home country in the closed economy chooses to work in the "Y" sector of the foreign country in the closed economy chooses to work in the "Y" sector of the foreign country, then an individual who works in the "X" sector in the closed economy works in the "Y" sector in the closed economy works in the "Y" sector.

Proof of Proposition 8: We compare the level of wellbeing in an open economy with the level of wellbeing in a closed economy for each of the 4 types of individuals.

(a) For those who work in the "X" sector in the closed economy and continue to work in the "X" sector in the open economy, their (nominal) income is unchanged but the price of good y decreases. These individuals do not incur any disutility from humiliation. Thus, they are better off in the open economy.

(b) For an individual who works in the "X" sector in the closed economy but who works in the "Y" sector of the foreign country in the open economy, we know that, similar to (A.5), he will be better off in the open economy setting if and only if

$$\alpha \ln \alpha + (1-\alpha) \ln(1-\alpha) + \ln(p^{\circ}-c) - (1-\alpha) \ln p^{\circ} - \gamma \varepsilon$$

> $\alpha \ln \alpha + (1-\alpha) \ln(1-\alpha) + \ln(1) - (1-\alpha) \ln p^{\circ}$ (A.33)

Namely, if and only if

$$\gamma \varepsilon < \ln(p^{\circ} - c) + (1 - \alpha)\ln(p^{\circ} / p^{\circ})$$
(A.34)

From Proposition 1 and Lemma 1 we know that for an individual who works in the "X" sector in a closed economy but who works in the "Y" sector in an open economy

$$\ln(p^{c}) < \varepsilon < \frac{\ln(p^{o} - c)}{\gamma}$$
(A.35)

From Proposition 5 we know that $\ln(p^c / p^o) > 0$. Thus, clearly, $\varepsilon = \frac{\ln(p^o - c)}{\gamma}$ satisfies (A.34), which implies that any ε defined in (A.35) satisfies (A.34). Thus, individuals of type (2) are better off in the open economy setting.

(c) For an individual who works in the "Y" sector of the home country in the closed economy and who continues to work in the "Y" sector of the home country in the open economy, we know that he will be worse off in the open economy setting if and only if

$$\alpha \ln \alpha + (1-\alpha) \ln(1-\alpha) + \ln p^{\circ} - (1-\alpha) \ln p^{\circ} - \varepsilon$$

$$< \alpha \ln \alpha + (1-\alpha) \ln(1-\alpha) + \ln p^{\circ} - (1-\alpha) \ln p^{\circ} - \varepsilon$$
(A.36)

namely if and only if

$$\alpha \ln p^{\circ} < \alpha \ln p^{c} \tag{A.37}$$

From Proposition 5, we know that (A.37) (and hence (A.36)) is satisfied, which implies that individuals of this type are worse off in the open economy.

(d) For an individual who works in the "Y" sector of the home country in the closed economy but works in the "Y" sector of the foreign country in the open economy, we know, similar to (A.7), that he will be better off in the open economy setting if and only if

$$\alpha \ln \alpha + (1-\alpha) \ln(1-\alpha) + \ln(w_f - c) - (1-\alpha) \ln p^\circ - \gamma \varepsilon$$

> $\alpha \ln \alpha + (1-\alpha) \ln(1-\alpha) + \ln w_y - (1-\alpha) \ln p^\circ - \varepsilon$ (A.38)

From inserting (3.3) into (A.38), we see that (A.38) is equivalent to (4.3).

The following papers have been published so far:

No. 1	Ulrike Grote, Arnab Basu, Diana Weinhold	Child Labor and the International Policy Debate Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, September 1998, pp. 47.
No. 2	Patrick Webb, Maria Iskandarani	Water Insecurity and the Poor: Issues and Research Needs Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, Oktober 1998, pp. 66.
No. 3	Matin Qaim, Joachim von Braun	Crop Biotechnology in Developing Countries: A Conceptual Framework for Ex Ante Economic Analyses Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, November 1998, pp. 24.
No. 4	Sabine Seibel, Romeo Bertolini, Dietrich Müller-Falcke	Informations- und Kommunikationstechnologien in Entwicklungsländern Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, January 1999, pp. 50.
No. 5	Jean-Jacques Dethier	Governance and Economic Performance: A Survey Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, April 1999, pp. 62.
No. 6	Mingzhi Sheng	Lebensmittelhandel und Konsumtrends in China Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, May 1999, pp. 57.
No. 7	Arjun Bedi	The Role of Information and Communication Technologies in Economic Development – A Partial Survey Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, May 1999, pp. 42.
No. 8	Abdul Bayes, Joachim von Braun, Rasheda Akhter	Village Pay Phones and Poverty Reduction: Insights from a Grameen Bank Initiative in Bangladesh Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, June 1999, pp. 47.
No. 9	Johannes Jütting	Strengthening Social Security Systems in Rural Areas of Developing Countries Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, June 1999, pp. 44.
No. 10	Mamdouh Nasr	Assessing Desertification and Water Harvesting in the Middle East and North Africa: Policy Implications Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, July 1999, pp. 59.
No. 11	Oded Stark, Yong Wang	Externalities, Human Capital Formation and Corrective Migration Policy Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, August 1999, pp. 17.

No. 12	John Msuya	Nutrition Improvement Projects in Tanzania: Appropriate Choice of Institutions Matters Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, August 1999, pp. 36.
No. 13	Liu Junhai	Legal Reforms in China Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, August 1999, pp. 90.
No. 14	Lukas Menkhoff	Bad Banking in Thailand? An Empirical Analysis of Macro Indicators Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, August 1999, pp. 38.
No. 15	Kaushalesh Lal	Information Technology and Exports: A Case Study of Indian Garments Manufacturing Enterprises Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, August 1999, pp. 24.
No. 16	Detlef Virchow	Spending on Conservation of Plant Genetic Resources for Food and Agriculture: How much and how efficient? Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, September 1999, pp. 37.
No. 17	Arnulf Heuermann	Die Bedeutung von Telekommunikationsdiensten für wirtschaftliches Wachstum Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, September 1999, pp. 33.
No. 18	Ulrike Grote, Arnab Basu, Nancy Chau	The International Debate and Economic Consequences of Eco-Labeling Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, September 1999, pp. 37.
No. 19	Manfred Zeller	Towards Enhancing the Role of Microfinance for Safety Nets of the Poor Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, October 1999, pp. 30.
No. 20	Ajay Mahal, Vivek Srivastava, Deepak Sanan	Decentralization and Public Sector Delivery of Health and Education Services: The Indian Experience Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, January 2000, pp. 77.
No. 21	M. Andreini, N. van de Giesen, A. van Edig, M. Fosu, W. Andah	Volta Basin Water Balance Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, March 2000, pp. 29.
No. 22	Susanna Wolf, Dominik Spoden	Allocation of EU Aid towards ACP-Countries Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, March 2000, pp. 59.

No. 23	Uta Schultze	Insights from Physics into Development Processes: Are Fat Tails Interesting for Development Research? Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, March 2000, pp. 21.
No. 24	Joachim von Braun, Ulrike Grote, Johannes Jütting	Zukunft der Entwicklungszusammenarbeit Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, March 2000, pp. 25.
No. 25	Oded Stark, You Qiang Wang	A Theory of Migration as a Response to Relative Deprivation Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, March 2000, pp. 16.
No. 26	Doris Wiesmann, Joachim von Braun, Torsten Feldbrügge	An International Nutrition Index – Successes and Failures in Addressing Hunger and Malnutrition Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, April 2000, pp. 56.
No. 27	Maximo Torero	The Access and Welfare Impacts of Telecommunications Technology in Peru Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, June 2000, pp. 30.
No. 28	Thomas Hartmann- Wendels Lukas Menkhoff	Could Tighter Prudential Regulation Have Saved Thailand's Banks? Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, July 2000, pp. 40.
No. 29	Mahendra Dev	Economic Liberalisation and Employment in South Asia Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, August 2000, pp. 82.
No. 30	Noha El-Mikawy, Amr Hashem, Maye Kassem, Ali El-Sawi, Abdel Hafez El-Sawy, Mohamed Showman	Institutional Reform of Economic Legislation in Egypt Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, August 2000, pp. 72.
No. 31	Kakoli Roy, Susanne Ziemek	On the Economics of Volunteering Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, August 2000, pp. 47.
No. 32	Assefa Admassie	The Incidence of Child Labour in Africa with Empirical Evidence from Rural Ethiopia Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, October 2000, pp. 61.
No. 33	Jagdish C. Katyal, Paul L.G. Vlek	Desertification – Concept, Causes and Amelioration Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, October 2000, pp. 65.

No. 34	Oded Stark	On a Variation in the Economic Performance of Migrants by their Home Country's Wage Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, October 2000, pp. 10.
No. 35	Ramón Lopéz	Growth, Poverty and Asset Allocation: The Role of the State Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, March 2001, pp. 35.
No. 36	Kazuki Taketoshi	Environmental Pollution and Policies in China's Township and Village Industrial Enterprises Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, March 2001, pp. 37.
No. 37	Noel Gaston, Douglas Nelson	Multinational Location Decisions and the Impact on Labour Markets Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, May 2001, pp. 26.
No. 38	Claudia Ringler	Optimal Water Allocation in the Mekong River Basin Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, May 2001, pp. 50.
No. 39	Ulrike Grote, Stefanie Kirchhoff	Environmental and Food Safety Standards in the Context of Trade Liberalization: Issues and Options Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, June 2001, pp. 43.
No. 40	Renate Schubert, Simon Dietz	Environmental Kuznets Curve, Biodiversity and Sustainability Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, October 2001, pp. 30.
No. 41	Stefanie Kirchhoff, Ana Maria Ibañez	Displacement due to Violence in Colombia: Determinants and Consequences at the Household Level Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, October 2001, pp. 45.
No. 42	Francis Matambalya, Susanna Wolf	The Role of ICT for the Performance of SMEs in East Africa – Empirical Evidence from Kenya and Tanzania Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, December 2001, pp. 30.
No. 43	Oded Stark, Ita Falk	Dynasties and Destiny: On the Roles of Altruism and Impatience in the Evolution of Consumption and Bequests Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, December 2001, pp. 20.
No. 44	Assefa Admassie	Allocation of Children's Time Endowment between Schooling and Work in Rural Ethiopia Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, February 2002, pp. 75.

No. 45	Andreas Wimmer, Conrad Schetter	Staatsbildung zuerst. Empfehlungen zum Wiederaufbau und zur Befriedung Afghanistans. (German Version) State-Formation First. Recommendations for Reconstruction and Peace-Making in Afghanistan. (English Version) Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, April 2002, pp. 27.
No. 46	Torsten Feldbrügge, Joachim von Braun	Is the World Becoming A More Risky Place? – Trends in Disasters and Vulnerability to Them – Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, May 2002, pp. 42
No. 47	Joachim von Braun, Peter Wobst, Ulrike Grote	"Development Box" and Special and Differential Treatment for Food Security of Developing Countries: Potentials, Limitations and Implementation Issues Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, May 2002, pp. 28
No. 48	Shyamal Chowdhury	Attaining Universal Access: Public-Private Partnership and Business-NGO Partnership Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, June 2002, pp. 37
No. 49	L. Adele Jinadu	Ethnic Conflict & Federalism in Nigeria Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, September 2002, pp. 45
No. 50	Oded Stark, Yong Wang	Overlapping Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, August 2002, pp. 17
No. 51	Roukayatou Zimmermann, Matin Qaim	Projecting the Benefits of Golden Rice in the Philippines Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, September 2002, pp. 33
No. 52	Gautam Hazarika, Arjun S. Bedi	Schooling Costs and Child Labour in Rural Pakistan Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn October 2002, pp. 34
No. 53	Margit Bussmann, Indra de Soysa, John R. Oneal	The Effect of Foreign Investment on Economic Development and Income Inequality Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, October 2002, pp. 35
No. 54	Maximo Torero, Shyamal K. Chowdhury, Virgilio Galdo	Willingness to Pay for the Rural Telephone Service in Bangladesh and Peru Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, October 2002, pp. 39
No. 55	Hans-Dieter Evers, Thomas Menkhoff	Selling Expert Knowledge: The Role of Consultants in Singapore's New Economy Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, October 2002, pp. 29

No. 56	Qiuxia Zhu Stefanie Elbern	Economic Institutional Evolution and Further Needs for Adjustments: Township Village Enterprises in China Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, November 2002, pp. 41
No. 57	Ana Devic	Prospects of Multicultural Regionalism As a Democratic Barrier Against Ethnonationalism: The Case of Vojvodina, Serbia's "Multiethnic Haven" Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, December 2002, pp. 29
No. 58	Heidi Wittmer Thomas Berger	Clean Development Mechanism: Neue Potenziale für regenerative Energien? Möglichkeiten und Grenzen einer verstärkten Nutzung von Bioenergieträgern in Entwicklungsländern Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, December 2002, pp. 81
No. 59	Oded Stark	Cooperation and Wealth Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, January 2003, pp. 13
No. 60	Rick Auty	Towards a Resource-Driven Model of Governance: Application to Lower-Income Transition Economies Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, February 2003, pp. 24
No. 61	Andreas Wimmer Indra de Soysa Christian Wagner	Political Science Tools for Assessing Feasibility and Sustainability of Reforms Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, February 2003, pp. 34
No. 62	Peter Wehrheim Doris Wiesmann	Food Security in Transition Countries: Conceptual Issues and Cross-Country Analyses Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, February 2003, pp. 45
No. 63	Rajeev Ahuja Johannes Jütting	Design of Incentives in Community Based Health Insurance Schemes Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, March 2003, pp. 27
No. 64	Sudip Mitra Reiner Wassmann Paul L.G. Vlek	Global Inventory of Wetlands and their Role in the Carbon Cycle Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, March 2003, pp. 44
No. 65	Simon Reich	Power, Institutions and Moral Entrepreneurs Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, March 2003, pp. 46
No. 66	Lukas Menkhoff Chodechai Suwanaporn	The Rationale of Bank Lending in Pre-Crisis Thailand Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, April 2003, pp. 37

No. 67	Ross E. Burkhart Indra de Soysa	Open Borders, Open Regimes? Testing Causal Direction between Globalization and Democracy, 1970–2000 Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, April 2003, pp. 24
No. 68	Arnab K. Basu Nancy H. Chau Ulrike Grote	On Export Rivalry and the Greening of Agriculture – The Role of Eco-labels Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, April 2003, pp. 38
No. 69	Gerd R. Rücker Soojin Park Henry Ssali John Pender	Strategic Targeting of Development Policies to a Complex Region: A GIS-Based Stratification Applied to Uganda Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, May 2003, pp. 41
No. 70	Susanna Wolf	Private Sector Development and Competitiveness in Ghana Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, May 2003, pp. 29
No. 71	Oded Stark	Rethinking the Brain Drain Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, June 2003, pp. 17
No. 72	Andreas Wimmer	Democracy and Ethno-Religious Conflict in Iraq Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, June 2003, pp. 17
No. 73	Oded Stark	Tales of Migration without Wage Differentials: Individual, Family, and Community Contexts Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, September 2003, pp. 15
No. 74	Holger Seebens Peter Wobst	The Impact of Increased School Enrollment on Economic Growth in Tanzania Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, October 2003, pp. 25
No. 75	Benedikt Korf	Ethnicized Entitlements? Property Rights and Civil War in Sri Lanka Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, November 2003, pp. 26
No. 76	Wolfgang Werner	Toasted Forests – Evergreen Rain Forests of Tropical Asia under Drought Stress Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, December 2003, pp. 46
No. 77	Appukuttannair Damodaran Stefanie Engel	Joint Forest Management in India: Assessment of Performance and Evaluation of Impacts Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, October 2003, pp. 44

No. 78	Eric T. Craswell Ulrike Grote Julio Henao Paul L.G. Vlek	Nutrient Flows in Agricultural Production and International Trade: Ecology and Policy Issues Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, January 2004, pp. 62
No. 79	Richard Pomfret	Resource Abundance, Governance and Economic Performance in Turkmenistan and Uzbekistan Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, January 2004, pp. 20
No. 80	Anil Markandya	Gains of Regional Cooperation: Environmental Problems and Solutions Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, January 2004, pp. 24
No. 81	Akram Esanov, Martin Raiser, Willem Buiter	Gains of Nature's Blessing or Nature's Curse: The Political Economy of Transition in Resource-Based Economies Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, January 2004, pp. 22
No. 82	John M. Msuya Johannes P. Jütting Abay Asfaw	Impacts of Community Health Insurance Schemes on Health Care Provision in Rural Tanzania Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, January 2004, pp. 26
No. 83	Bernardina Algieri	The Effects of the Dutch Disease in Russia Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, January 2004, pp. 41
No. 84	Oded Stark	On the Economics of Refugee Flows Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, February 2004, pp. 8
No. 85	Shyamal K. Chowdhury	Do Democracy and Press Freedom Reduce Corruption? Evidence from a Cross Country Study Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, March2004, pp. 33
No. 86	Qiuxia Zhu	The Impact of Rural Enterprises on Household Savings in China Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, May 2004, pp. 51
No. 87	Abay Asfaw Klaus Frohberg K.S.James Johannes Jütting	Modeling the Impact of Fiscal Decentralization on Health Outcomes: Empirical Evidence from India Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, June 2004, pp. 29

No. 88	Maja B. Micevska Arnab K. Hazra	The Problem of Court Congestion: Evidence from Indian Lower Courts Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, July 2004, pp. 31
No. 89	Donald Cox Oded Stark	On the Demand for Grandchildren: Tied Transfers and the Demonstration Effect Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, September 2004, pp. 44
No. 90	Stefanie Engel Ramón López	Exploiting Common Resources with Capital-Intensive Technologies: The Role of External Forces Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, November 2004, pp. 32
No. 91	Hartmut Ihne	Heuristic Considerations on the Typology of Groups and Minorities Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, December 2004, pp. 24
No. 92	Johannes Sauer Klaus Frohberg Heinrich Hockmann	Black-Box Frontiers and Implications for Development Policy – Theoretical Considerations Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, December 2004, pp. 38
No. 93	Hoa Ngyuen Ulrike Grote	Agricultural Policies in Vietnam: Producer Support Estimates, 1986–2002 Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, December 2004, pp. 79
No. 94	Oded Stark You Qiang Wang	Towards a Theory of Self-Segregation as a Response to Relative Deprivation: Steady-State Outcomes and Social Welfare Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, December 2004, pp. 25
No. 95	Oded Stark	Status Aspirations, Wealth Inequality, and Economic Growth Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, February 2005, pp. 9
No. 96	John K. Mduma Peter Wobst	Village Level Labor Market Development in Tanzania: Evidence from Spatial Econometrics Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, January 2005, pp. 42
No. 97	Ramon Lopez Edward B. Barbier	Debt and Growth Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn March 2005, pp. 30
No. 98	Hardwick Tchale Johannes Sauer Peter Wobst	Impact of Alternative Soil Fertility Management Options on Maize Productivity in Malawi's Smallholder Farming System Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn August 2005, pp. 29

No. 99	Steve Boucher Oded Stark J. Edward Taylor	A Gain with a Drain? Evidence from Rural Mexico on the New Economics of the Brain Drain Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn October 2005, pp. 26
No. 100	Jumanne Abdallah Johannes Sauer	Efficiency and Biodiversity – Empirical Evidence from Tanzania Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn November 2005, pp. 34
No. 101	Tobias Debiel	Dealing with Fragile States – Entry Points and Approaches for Development Cooperation Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn December 2005, pp. 38
No. 102	Sayan Chakrabarty Ulrike Grote Guido Lüchters	The Trade-Off Between Child Labor and Schooling: Influence of Social Labeling NGOs in Nepal Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn February 2006, pp. 35
No. 103	Bhagirath Behera Stefanie Engel	Who Forms Local Institutions? Levels of Household Participation in India's Joint Forest Management Program Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn February 2006, pp. 37
No. 104	Roukayatou Zimmermann Faruk Ahmed	Rice Biotechnology and Its Potential to Combat Vitamin A Deficiency: A Case Study of Golden Rice in Bangladesh Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn March 2006, pp. 31
No. 105	Adama Konseiga	Household Migration Decisions as Survival Strategy: The Case of Burkina Faso Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn April 2006, pp. 36
No. 106	Ulrike Grote Stefanie Engel Benjamin Schraven	Migration due to the Tsunami in Sri Lanka – Analyzing Vulnerability and Migration at the Household Level Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn April 2006, pp. 37
No. 107	Stefan Blum	East Africa: Cycles of Violence, and the Paradox of Peace Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn April 2006, pp. 42
No. 108	Ahmed Farouk Ghoneim Ulrike Grote	Impact of Labor Standards on Egyptian Exports with Special Emphasis on Child Labor Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn April 2006, pp. 50
No. 109	Oded Stark	Work Effort, Moderation in Expulsion, and Illegal Migration Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn May 2006, pp. 11

No. 110	Oded Stark C. Simon Fan	International Migration and "Educated Unemployment" Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn June 2006, pp. 19
No. 111	Oded Stark C. Simon Fan	A Reluctance to Assimilate Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn October 2006, pp. 12
No. 112	Martin Worbes Evgeniy Botman Asia Khamzina Alexander Tupitsa Christopher Martius John P.A. Lamers	Scope and Constraints for Tree Planting in the Irrigated Landscapes of the Aral Sea Basin: Case Studies in Khorezm Region, Uzbekistan Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn December 2006, pp. 49
No. 113	Oded Stark C. Simon Fan	The Analytics of Seasonal Migration Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn March 2007, pp. 16
No. 114	Oded Stark C. Simon Fan	The Brain Drain, "Educated Unemployment," Human Capital Formation, and Economic Betterment Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn July 2007, pp. 36
No. 115	Franz Gatzweiler Anke Reichhuber Lars Hein	Why Financial Incentives Can Destroy Economically Valuable Biodiversity in Ethiopia Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn August 2007, pp. 14
No. 116	Oded Stark C. Simon Fan	Losses and Gains to Developing Countries from the Migration of Educated Workers: An Overview of Recent Research, and New Reflections Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn August 2007, pp. 14
No. 117	Aimée Hampel-Milagrosa	Social Capital, Ethnicity and Decision-Making in the Philippine Vegetable Market Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn September 2007, pp. 74
No. 118	Oded Stark C. Simon Fan	Rural-to-Urban Migration, Human Capital, and Agglomeration Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn December 2007, pp. 25
No. 119	Arnab K. Basu Matin Qaim	Pricing, Distribution and Adoption of Genetically Modified Seeds under Alternative Information Regimes Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn December 2007, pp. 32
No. 120	Oded Stark Doris A. Behrens Yong Wang	On the Evolutionary Edge of Migration as an Assortative Mating Device Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn February 2008, pp. 19

No. 121	Nancy H. Chau Rolf Färe	Shadow Pricing Market Access: A Trade Benefit Function Approach Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn January 2008, pp. 42
No. 122	Nicolas Gerber	Bioenergy and Rural development in developing Countries: a Review of Exsiting Studies Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn June 2008, pp. 58
No. 123	Seid Nuru Holger Seebens	The Impact of Location on Crop Choice and Rural Livelihood: Evidences from Villages in Northern Ethiopia Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn July 2008, pp. 27
No. 124	Anik Bhaduri, Nicostrato Perez and Jens Liebe	Scope and Sustainability of Cooperation in Transboundary Water Sharing of the Volta River Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn September 2008, pp. 28
No. 125	Arnab K. Basu and Robert L. Hicks	Label Performance and the Willingness to Pay for Fair Trade Coffee: A Cross-National Perspective Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn October 2008, pp. 22
No. 126	Prof. Dr. habil. Michael Bohnet	Chinas langer Marsch zur Umweltrevolution Umweltprobleme und Umweltpolitik der Chinesischen Volksrepublik Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn October 2008, pp. 22
No. 127	Nicolas Gerber Manfred van Eckert Thomas Breuer	The Impacts of Biofuel Production on Food Prices: a review Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn December 2008, pp.19
No. 128	Oded Stark and Doris A. Behrens	An Evolutionary Edge of Knowing Less (or: On the "Curse" of Global Information) Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn March 2009, pp.21
No. 129	Daniel W. Tsegai, Teresa Linz, Julia Kloos	Economic analysis of water supply cost structure in the Middle Olifants sub-basin of South Africa Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn April 2009, pp.20
No. 130	Teresa Linz, Daniel W. Tsegai	Industrial Water Demand analysis in the Middle Olifants sub-basin of South Africa: The case of Mining Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn April 2009, pp.27

No. 131	Julia Kloos Daniel W. Tsegai	Preferences for domestic water services in the Middle Olifants sub-basin of South Africa Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn May 2009, pp.23
No. 132	Anik Bhaduri Utpal Manna Edward Barbier Jens Liebe	Cooperation in Transboundary Water Sharing under Climate Change Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn June 2009, pp. 33
No. 133	Nicolas Gerber	Measuring Biodiversity – an axiomatic evaluation of measures based on genetic data Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn June 2009, pp. 26
No. 134	Oded Stark	Reasons for Remitting Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn August 2009, pp. 15
No. 135	Oded Stark Walter Hyll Doris A. Behrens	Gauging the potential for social unrest Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn September 2009, pp.14
No. 136	Oded Stark C. Simon Fan	A Theory of Migration as a Response to Occupational Stigma Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn November 2009, pp.30

ISSN: 1436-9931

The papers can be ordered free of charge from:Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF)PhoCenter for Development ResearchFaxWalter-Flex-Str. 3E-ND – 53113 Bonn, Germanyhttp

Phone: +49-228-73-1861 Fax: +49-228-73-1869 E-Mail: zef@uni-bonn.de http://www.zef.de